MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

DOCKET NO. 2008-TS-02156

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF HELEN G. VICKERY, DECEASED

GLENDY BURKE "VICK" VICKERY

Appellant

v.

GEORGE W. VICKERY, JR.

Appellee

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL JUDGMENT OF THE CHANCERY COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI IN CAUSE NO. 05-02526(3)

BRIEF OF APPELLANT, GLENDY BURKE "VICK" VICKERY

PAUL M. NEWTON, JR. (MBN NEWTON AND HOFF, L.L.P. P. O. Box 910 Gulfport, MS 39502-0910 Tel: (228) 863-8827

Attorneys for Appellant Glendy Burke "Vick" Vickery

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

1. CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

3. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The following issues are before this Court:

1. Whether appellee George W. Vickery, Jr. ["George Vickery"] was barred under the doctrine of "accord and satisfaction" from maintaining a will contest due to his acceptance of his total \$30,000 inheritance under the Will which he thereafter challenged;

2. Whether appellee George Vickery was barred under the doctrine of estoppel from maintaining a will contest due to his acceptance of his total \$30,000 inheritance under the Will which he thereafter challenged;

3. If George Vickery's will contest were barred under accord and satisfaction and/or estoppel, whether appellant Glendy Burke "Vick" Vickery [Vick Vickery] waived his right to asset such affirmative defenses.

4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The present appeal involves the contest of the Last Will and Testament Helen G. Vickery, deceased, dated October 22, 2004 [Rec. Doc. 5-8; Exhibit "1" hereto], by one of decedent's stepsons, appellee George Vickery.¹ In her contested Will, Helen G. Vickery left \$30,000 to appellee George Vickery and the remainder of her estate to her other stepson, appellant Vick Vickery, the brother of appellee George Vickery. On November 26, 2005, Vick Vickery satisfied the \$30,000 bequest to George Vickery by Hancock Bank check no. 683 [Rec. Doc. 59; copy of front and back of check attached as Exhibit "2" hereto]. Vick Vickery specifically indicated on the check's memorandum line that such \$30,000 payment was "per HGV will," *i.e.*, per Helen G. Vickery's Will. George W. Vickery, Jr. crossed through this language, placed his initials "GWV" by the deletion, and negotiated the tendered \$30,000 check.

¹ No children were born to or adopted by decedent Helen G. Vickery.

Vick Vickery reasserts on appeal that George Vickery's acceptance of his \$30,000 inheritance under Helen G. Vickery's October 22, 2004 Last Will and Testament barred his subsequent contest of such Will. The lower Court denied Vick Vickery's Motion for Summary Judgment based on "accord and satisfaction" on two grounds--first, that accord and satisfaction applies to "satisfaction of a debt between an obligor and an obligee," rather than a will contest, and secondly, that Vick Vickery waived his right to assert such affirmative due to approximate two-and-one-half-year period between filing his initial Answer and Affirmative Defenses raising accord and satisfaction, and filing a Motion for Summary Judgment on such ground. The lower Court denied Vick Vickery's Second Motion for Summary Judgment based on "estoppel," holding that Vick Vickery waived his right to assert such affirmative defense due to failure to bring such defense for the Court's consideration for almost three years from the beginning of this action.²

5. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellee George W. Vickery, Jr. accepted \$30,000--his complete inheritance under decedent Helen G. Vickery's October 22, 2004 Last Will and Testament--with the admitted understanding that such was in satisfaction of his inheritance under the contested Will. Thereafter, George Vickery initiated litigation contesting the validity of such Will, and refused the subsequent written demand of estate executor Vick Vickery to return such \$30,000 to the estate during the pendency of such litigation. [Rec. Doc. 117-119; Exhibits "3" & "4" hereto]. Appellee George Vickery, by accepting his inheritance under Helen G. Vickery's October 22,

² The lower Court premised its denial solely on waiver, and apparently recognized that the doctrine of estoppel otherwise barred appellee George Vickery's contest of the Will under which he had accepted his inheritance. See Sec. (6) (I) (B), infra at 11.

2004 Last Will and Testament, was barred under the doctrines of "accord and satisfaction" and of "estoppel" from thereafter contesting the validity of such Will.

Further, the trial Court's determination that Vick Vickery waived his defenses of accord and satisfaction and of estoppel, due to alleged "delay" in bringing these defenses before the Court for consideration, is incorrect as a matter of law. Unlike *Whitten v. Whitten*, 956 So.2d 1093 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007), upon which the lower Court relied, appellant Vick Vickery was unable to establish his affirmative defenses until obtaining critical deposition admissions from appellee George Vickery and his wife, Carol Vickery. Appellant Vick Vickery's Motions for Summary Judgment were filed promptly after receipt of theses critical deposition transcripts; in fact, the first Motion for Summary Judgment was filed only five days (including weekends) after such receipt.

6. ARGUMENT

I. WILL CONTEST BARRED BY AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES

A. WILL CONTEST BARRED BY ACCORD AND SATISFACTION

1. Accord and Satisfaction Requirements

In Lovorn v. Iron Woods Products Corp., 362 So.2d 196, 197 (Miss. 1978), this Court set forth four requirements for accord and satisfaction; specifically:

(1) Something of value is offered in full satisfaction of demand;

(2) The offer is accompanied by acts and declarations as amount to a condition that if the thing offered is accepted, it is accepted in satisfaction;

(3) The party who offered the thing of value is bound to understand that if he takes it,

he takes subject to such conditions; and

(4) The party actually does accept the item.

In the present case, each prong of the four-part "accord and satisfaction" test is met. Accordingly, George Vickery was barred under accord and satisfaction from challenging the validity of Helen G. Vickery's October 22, 2004 Last Will and Testament

a. Something Of Value Offered In Full Satisfaction

Under the case facts, the first "accord and satisfaction" prong of whether something of value is offered in full satisfaction of the demand is clearly satisfied. Appellant Vick Vickery offered George Vickery a check for \$30,000 [Rec. Doc. 59; Exhibit "2" hereto], which amount constitutes "something of value." George W. Vickery, Jr. in his May 29, 2008 sworn deposition testimony acknowledged that the \$30,000 check was offered in full satisfaction of his inheritance in the following exchange:

NEWTON: Did you think that it [check number 683] was for the \$30,000 that was left under the October 22, 2004, will?

GEORGE W. VICKERY, JR.: Yeah. That's what Vick said. He said, You've been left \$30,000, and I'm going to give this to you, and he wrote out the check.

Deposition of George W. Vickery, Jr., May 29, 2008, at 54 [Rec. Doc. 62; pages 53-55 attached as Exhibit "5" hereto].

As evidenced by George Vickery's deposition testimony, the first prong for "accord and satisfaction"--whether something of value is offered in full satisfaction--is clearly satisfied.

b. Act or Declaration As Condition That Acceptance Constitutes Satisfaction

The second accord and satisfaction prong is whether the offer is accompanied by an act or declaration amounting to a condition that acceptance of the thing offered is in satisfaction. *Lovorn*, 362 So. 2d at 197. In the present case, the offer of the check was accompanied by <u>two</u> such acts or declarations. First, Vick Vickery indicated on the face of the \$30,000 check offered that the payment offered was "per HGV will." Secondly, Vick Vickery told George Vickery that

the \$30,000 payment was in satisfaction of the \$30,000 bequest under the October 22, 2004 Last Will and Testament. Deposition of George W. Vickery, Jr., May 29, 2008, at 55. [Rec. Doc. 63; Exhibit "5" hereto] The language on the face of the check and the acknowledged verbal statements which accompanied the offer constitute acts or declarations amounting to a condition that acceptance of the \$30,000 constituted full satisfaction of George Vickery inheritance. Thus, the second prong for accord and satisfaction is also met.

c. Understanding That Acceptance Constitutes Satisfaction

The third accord and satisfaction prong is whether the party offered the thing of value-George Vickery--is bound to understand that if he takes the thing of value, he takes subject to the condition that his acceptance is in satisfaction of his inheritance. This prong is met both by the verbal statements of Vick Vickery to George Vickery, and by George Vickery's striking of the condition written on the face of check 683.

As previously stated, George W. Vickery, Jr. wrote his initials "GWV" in close proximity to the language "per HGV will" on the face of Hancock Bank check 683, which language was crossed through on the check. During his May 29, 2008 deposition, George Vickery could not remember whether he personally crossed through the wording "per HWV will," and professed that he had "absolutely no idea" why he wrote his initials in proximity to the deleted language. Deposition of George W. Vickery, Jr., May 29, 2008, at 54. [Rec. Doc. 62; Exhibit "5" hereto]

Fortunately, George Vickery's wife, Carol Vickery, was able to complete the gaps in her husband's memory. Carol Vickery in her deposition offered the following sworn testimony:

NEWTON: Do you have any knowledge as to what that \$30,000 in that check represents?

CAROL VICKERY: Right down there Vick wrote per HGV will.

NEWTON: Okay. Is that your husband's handwriting above that that says GWV?

CAROL VICKERY: He scratched it out and put GWV.

NEWTON: Okay. Do you know why?

CAROL VICKERY: Because George was going to contest the will.

Deposition of Carol Vickery, May 29, 2008, at 39 & 40. [Rec. Doc. 66 & 67; copy of pages 39 & 40 attached as Exhibit "6" hereto] (emphasis added).

In Dix v. Trigger Contractors, Inc., 337 So.2d 694 (Miss. 1976), in which the accepting

party struck through restrictive language on a check, this Court held that an accord and

satisfaction nonetheless occurred upon the acceptance of the check. The Dix Court quoted the

following general rule:

It is well established that if a check bearing a notation indicating that it is offered in full payment or settlement of a disputed or unliquidated claim is delivered by the debtor to the creditor, and this is made clear to the creditor, the latter cannot avoid the dilemma of returning the check or keeping it in full satisfaction of the claim by simply erasing, obliterating, or cancelling the words which import such satisfaction.

337 So.2d at 695-96 quoting 1 Am.Jur.2d Accord and Satisfaction Section 22 (1962).

Similarly, in May Brothers v. Doggett, 124 So. 476, 478 (Miss. 1929), this Court ruled:

[A]ppellee . . .knew that the disputed amount was not . . .included in the check, and that the appellants were contending that the amount of this check covered all the balance due him on that date. . . . Under these circumstances, it was not permissible for the appellee to accept the check so tendered in full settlement, with the mental reservation that he would afterwards assert a claim for additional compensation; and having done so, . . . he is precluded from recovering for transactions antedating this settlement.

In the present case, George Vickery knew that the tendered \$30,000 was offered in full satisfaction of his inheritance under Helen G. Vickery's October 22, 2004 Last Will and Testament. Deposition of George W. Vickery, Jr., May 29, 2008, at 55. [Rec. Doc. 63; Exhibit "5" hereto] George Vickery was required to refuse the tendered check to preserve his ability to contest such Last Will and Testament, since acceptance constitutes accord and satisfaction. *May*

Brothers v. Doggett, 124 So. At 487. Moreover, George Vickery could not preclude accord and satisfaction by striking through the condition on the face of the check, *Dix v. Trigger Contractors, Inc.*, 337 So.2d at 695-96; rather, such underscores George Vickery's understanding that the check was offered and accepted in full satisfaction of his inheritance.

d. Acceptance Of Item

The fourth prong--that the party actually does accept the item--was satisfied by George Vickery admitted negotiation of Hancock Bank check number 683, as reflected by his endorsement of such check [Rec. Doc. 59; Exhibit "2" hereto], and by his deposition testimony. Deposition of George W. Vickery, Jr., May 29, 2008, at 54-56 [Rec. Doc. 62-64; Exhibit "5" hereto], (admitting cashing of check).

2. Application of Accord and Satisfaction to Will Contest

The lower Court did not specifically adjudicate whether the four prongs for "accord and satisfaction" were met in the present case. Instead, the Court noted (and appellant Vick Vickery concedes) that no Mississippi cases are found in which "accord and satisfaction" has been applied to a Will contest. Nonetheless, the four prongs for accord and satisfaction are met in the present case, and no Mississippi cases require that "accord and satisfaction" be limited to a debtor/creditor relationship. Accordingly, appellant Vick Vickery again asserts that the litigation before the lower Court was barred by accord and satisfaction.

B. WILL CONTEST BARRED BY ESTOPPEL

In West v. West, 131 Miss. 880, 95 So. 739 (1923), this Court espoused the universal principal that a party who takes an inheritance under a Will may not thereafter challenge such Will, stating:

As to what is the law relating to a party taking the benefit of a provision in his favor under a will, there is really no foundation to dispute the proposition that

he thereby is precluded from, at the same time, attacking the validity of the very instrument under which he receive the benefit.

95 So. at 741, quoting Utermehle v. Norment, 197 U. S. 40, 57 (1905) (emphasis added). The West Court further noted that the party taking an inheritance under a Will provision is *estopped* from thereafter challenging the validity of the Will. 95 So. at 741.

Similarly, in Kuhne v. Miller, 387 So.2d 729 (Miss. 1980), this Court again recognized

that the doctrine of estoppel bars a party from accepting benefits under a Will and thereafter

contesting the Will's validity, opining:

We conclude, as did the trial court, that . . . they [the appellants] are estopped to contest the will, having received a benefit directly from it.

Id. at 731. The *Kuhne* Court further emphasized that it is irrelevant whether the accepting party would receive the item regardless of the final Judgment, ruling:

It is next argued that the interest received by the contestants did not exceed their intestacy share and by executing the disclaimer and quitclaim deed the widow relinquishes nothing of substantial value. We are not impressed with this contention because the issue presented is not whether the widow deprived herself of something of value, though we think she did, but whether the contestants accepted a devise under the will, thereby acknowledging its authenticity.

Id.

In the present case, George Vickery could preserve his ability to contest the Last Will and Testament only by either refusing the tendered check or by returning such check upon the written demand of executor Vick Vickery. In view of his admitted acceptance of his inheritance under the will in issue, appellee George Vickery was estopped from thereafter challenging such Will. *Kuhne v. Miller*, 387 So.2d at 731; *West v. West*, 95 So. at 741.

II. NO WAIVER OF AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES

A. FACTORS FOR WAIVER OF AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

The lower Court relied on Whitten v. Whitten, 956 So.2d 1093 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) in two Orders holding that appellant Vick Vickery waived his right to assert either accord and satisfaction or estoppel due to his purported "delay' in bringing such affirmative defenses for the Court's consideration. Order Denving Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion for Continuance entered June 25, 2008 [Rec. Doc. 92 & 93] and Order Denying Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion for Continuance entered December 1, 2008 [Rec. Doc. 153 & 154] Significantly, Whitten involved a party's prolonged failure, while actively participating in litigation, to bring the defenses of insufficiency of service and insufficiency of process before the Court for consideration, although the facts to maintain such defenses successfully were established. Accord, East Mississippi State Hospital v. Adams, 947 So.2d 887, 891 (Miss. 2007) (waiver of defenses of insufficiency of service and insufficiency of process, due to prolonged failure during litigation to present such then-established defense for Court's consideration); cf. Mississippi Credit Center, Inc. v. Horton, 926 So.2d 167 (Miss. 2006) (waiver of right to require arbitration, due to prolonged failure during litigation to present then-established right for adjudication).

The underlying premise of *Whitten, East Mississippi*, and *Horton* is that an affirmative defense may be waived if a party actively participates in litigation while failing to bring a defense in which the facts are established before the Court for consideration. This Court has carefully noted that the mere passage of time is not determinative as to whether waiver occurred, *Mississippi Credit Center, Inc. v. Horton*, 926 So.2d at 180 (neither delay nor participation in the judicial process standing alone will ordinarily constitute a waiver); rather, the issue is whether

such delay is "substantial and unreasonable." *Id.* Stated conversely, an affirmative defense may be waived unless the party asserting such defense "reasonably pursues the enforcement" of such defense. *Id.*

B. NO WAIVER UNDER CASE FACTS

Unlike *Whitten, East Mississippi,* and *Horton*, the facts necessary for appellant Vick Vickery to file a meritorious Motion for Summary Judgment based on either accord and satisfaction or estoppel were not conclusively established until the May 29, 2008 depositions of appellee George Vickery and his wife Carol Vickery. This factual distinction is *critical* in determining whether appellant Vick Vickery waived his rights in the present case.

Undersigned counsel drafted a Motion for Summary Judgment and supporting Memorandum based on accord and satisfaction in 2007, but concluded that additional proof might be necessary to prevail on such motion--specifically, proof establishing that appellee George Vickery understood that the check for \$30,000 he accepted constituted his inheritance under the subsequently challenged Will. In February 2008, undersigned counsel requested dates for the depositions of George W. Vickery, Jr. and wife Carol Vickery from opposing counsel, and was informed that such depositions could not be taken until May 29, 2008 due to such individuals' personal commitments. After obtaining the critical admissions in depositions, undersigned counsel requested expedited transcripts, and completed his first Motion for Summary Judgment and Memorandum in Support on June 9, 2008—eleven days after completion of the depositions and only *five days* (including weekends) after receipt of the deposition transcripts.

Shortly after the lower Court's denial of his Motion for Summary Judgment, appellant Vick Vickery filed a Second Motion for Summary Judgment, based on the application of

"estoppel" to the case facts. Once again, the Second Motion for Summary Judgment could not be confidently filed until after appellant George Vickery confessed in deposition his understanding that a tendered check for \$30,000 constituted his inheritance under the Will that he subsequently challenged. Further, appellant Vick Vickery's Second Motion for Summary Judgment was filed within a reasonable period after receipt of the critical deposition transcripts.

Appellant Vick Vickery acknowledges, and the record reflects, that he participated in the discovery process during this litigation. Significantly, the *only* manner in which appellant Vick Vickery could obtain the admissions necessary to establish his affirmative defenses was by actively participating in the litigation process, including the use of our discovery procedures, and appellant Vick Vickery filed his Motion for Summary Judgment based on accord and satisfaction *at the earliest time after obtaining the facts and admissions to support such Motion*. Clearly, our jurisprudence does not hold that a party litigant, by participating in the litigation and discovery process to obtain admissions for use in a Motion for Summary Judgment based on an affirmative defense, somehow waives such affirmative defense. Thus, the facts of the present case differ dramatically from *Whitten, East Mississippi*, and *Horton*, in which the affirmative defense could have been successfully brought before the Court at any time.

7. CONCLUSION

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