#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO: 2008-TS-02156

# IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF HELEN G. VICKERY, DECEASED

# **GLENDY BURKE "VICK" VICKERY, APPELLANT**

**VERSUS** 

**GEORGE W. VICKERY, JR., APPELLEE** 

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

**ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED** 

NICHOLSON AND NICHOLSON Chester D. Nicholson, MSB# P.O. Box 162 Gulfport, Mississippi 39502 Phone: (228) 868-3288 Fax: (228) 863-1818

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF HELEN G. VICKERY, DECEASED

**GLENDY BURKE "VICK" VICKERY** 

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

NO: 2008-TS-02156

**GEORGE W. VICKERY, JR.** 

APPELLEE

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

Even if the Motions for Summary Judgment were not merged in the jury trial, and even if the Trial Judge's finding of waiver were not sustained, neither motion factually applies to the circumstances before the Court. Moreover, there was no post trial motion filed by the Appellant to attempt to preserve either exception, accord and satisfaction or estoppel.

Finally, the Appellant designated only a small portion of the record, attempting to avoid letting this Court see the trial transcript. The Appellee properly designated the transcript in the Court below, but the Court Reporter and the Clerk permitted the record to come up to this Court without the transcript being prepared. The Appellee respectfully submits to this Court that the motion filed in this Court to remand the case to have the transcript prepared was improperly denied.

#### **ARGUMENT**

1. The motions for summary judgment, one based upon accord and satisfaction and the other upon estoppel, were merged in the jury verdict and can not now be appealed.

The jurisprudence of this State is clear that the denial of a Motion for Summary Judgment is an interlocutory matter which is subsumed by a subsequent trial and therefore mooted. Because this case was tried to a jury and a verdict rendered against Vick Vickery, the proponent of the October 24, 2004 Will, and because the Appellant Vick Vickery made no effort under Rule 5 to appeal the interlocutory orders of the Court denying the two Motions for Summary Judgment seasonably as the orders were entered, as a matter of law the Appellant cannot proceed on these assignments of error.

The Appellee cites as primary authority for the dismissal of the appeal *Gibson v. Wright*, 870 So.2d 1250 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). In *Gibson v. Wright*, the Court declined to review the issues of the denial of summary judgment after a subsequent trial. The *Gibson v. Wright* Court stated that "as to the issue of whether the trial court erred in denying Gibson's Motion for Summary Judgment, we hold that the ruling on summary judgment was interlocutory in nature and was subsequently rendered moot by

the trial on the merits...in other words, once trial begins, summary judgment motions effectively become moot". *Gibson v. Wright*, 870 So.2d 1250, 1254 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). *accord*, *Black v. J.I. Case Company, Inc.*, 22 F.3d 568, 569-70 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1994); *Daigle v. Liberty Life Insurance Co.*, 70 F.3d 394, 397 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1995).

In a more recent case, *Britton v. American Legion Post 058*, 2007-CA-01293-COA, decided November 18, 2008, the Court of Appeals, in following *Gibson v. Wright*, stated:

... on appeal, Britton raises only the issue of whether the Chancellor erred in denying his Motion for Summary Judgment. Because Britton did not seek an interlocutory appeal under Rule 5 of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure, and because the Chancellor ruled against him after trial, the issue of Britton's Motion for Summary Judgment is moot. This Court has held that appeals from the denial of a Motion for Summary Judgment are interlocutory in nature and are rendered moot by a trial on the merits. . . once trial begins, summary judgment motions effectively become moot. . . accordingly, this Court declines to review this issue. . Britton has raised no other issues for our review in this matter. Therefore, we dismiss Britton's appeal as moot.

Britton v. American Legion Post 058, 2007-CA-01293-COA, decided November 18, 2008.

The law seems clear that this Court will not entertain appeals from the denial of Motions for Summary Judgment once the case has been tried and the motions thus mooted. This appeal should be dismissed with prejudice, with all costs assessed to the Appellant.

- 2. Even if not merged in the jury verdict, the affirmative defenses of accord and satisfaction and estoppel were waived because they were not promptly asserted and argued.
  - a. Waiver of affirmative defenses in general

The law is well settled here, and none of it is favorable to the Appellant.

Rule 8 (c) provides in pertinent part that:

...Affirmative defenses. In pleading to a preceding pleading, a party shall set forth affirmatively accord and satisfaction...estoppel... and any other matter constituting an avoidance or affirmative defense...

Rule 8 (c), Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure.

If there were an affirmative defense available based upon accord and satisfaction or upon estoppel, the defenses were waived, as the trial court correctly found. Affirmative defenses that are neither pled nor tried by consent are deemed waived. *Goode v. Village of Woodgreen Homeowners*, 662 So.2d 1064, 1077 (Miss. 1995). It is undisputed that the Proponent did not plead estoppel in the answer he filed in September 2006. No new facts emerged which would have given the Proponent another run at it two years later. And while accord and satisfaction was pled, it wasn't pursued for over two and one-half years from the time the complaint was served, and twenty-one months after the answer was filed. Even if a defense is properly pled, it must be asserted timely or it is waived. *Whitten v. Whitten*, 956 So.2d 1093 (Miss. Ct.App. 2007). The *Whitten* court held:

... ordinarily, neither delay nor participation in the judicial process, standing alone, will constitute a waiver, but when there is substantial and unreasonable delay in pursuing the right along with active participation in the litigation process, the court will not hesitate to find a waiver (of a listed affirmative defense under Rule 8( c) . . .

*Miss. Credit Center, Inc. v. Horton*, 926 So.2d 167 (Miss. 2006) held that absent unusual circumstances, an eight month delay in pursuing any affirmative

defense (which was properly raised) or other right which could serve to terminate the litigation, along with participation in the litigation, constitutes waiver as a matter of law. *Miss. Credit Center, Inc. v. Horton,* 926 So.2d 167 (Miss. 2006); *Whitten v. Whitten*, 956 So.2d 1093, 1098 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

#### b. The Accord and Satisfaction defense was waived.

The Proponent of the October 2004 will moved for summary judgment based upon the affirmative defense of accord and satisfaction on June 9, 2008, two and one-half years after the will was challenged, R-68, and the Trial Court properly denied that motion on June 25, 2008. ARE-3, R-92.

Rule 8( c) controls. That is, "in (a responsive pleading), a party shall set forth affirmatively (emphasis supplied) accord and satisfaction..." Hence, accord and satisfaction is an affirmative defense which must be pled or else is waived. **Red**Enterprises, Inc. v. Peashooter, Inc., 455 So.2d 793 (Miss. 1984).

A review of the pleadings reveals that Vick Vickery did in fact file the affirmative defense of Accord and Satisfaction on September 20, 2006 in answer to the Objection to Probate and Petition to Probate Lost Will filed by the Objector nearly nine months earlier on January 6, 2006.

Before urging the affirmative defense in a pleading, nearly two years - - twentyone months - - passed before Vick Vickery brought the motion forward for argument.

During that period of time, the case was extensively litigated. Complete discovery took
place in the form of interrogatories and request for production. The depositions of
expert witnesses were taken. Various depositions of lay witnesses were taken.

Discovery disputes were filed and resolved by the Court in the form of Motions to

Compel. See Case Docket Sheet. The case came on for trial at one point, but because insufficient jurors had been summonsed, the matter had to be reset. And now the case has been tried, five days worth of it, in December 2008. See Court Docket generally.

The rule is clear. If the defense is properly pled, it must be asserted timely or it is waived. In *Whitten v. Whitten,* 956 So.2d 1093 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007), the Court held:

...ordinarily, neither delay or participation in the judicial process, standing alone, will constitute a waiver, but when there is substantial and unreasonable delay in pursuing the right along with the active participation in the litigation process, the Court will not hesitate to find a waiver to the right to compel arbitration (one of the affirmative defenses listed, along with accord and satisfaction and estoppel), in Rule 8 ( c).

Whitten v. Whitten, citing Miss. Credit Center, Inc. v. Horton, 926 So.2d 167 (Miss. 2006) and East Miss. State Hospital v. Adams, 947 So.2d 887 (Miss. 2007).

In the *Whitten* case and the cases which are seminal here, the Court offered helpful guidance:

...a defendant's failure to timely and reasonably raise and pursue the enforcement of any affirmative defense or other affirmative matter or right which would serve to terminate or stay the litigation, coupled with active participation in the litigation process, would ordinarily serve as a waiver.

Miss. Credit Center, Inc. v. Horton, 926 So.2d at 180 (Miss. 2006).

The *Whitten* court addressed the very situation before this Court now when it noted:

(The *Miss. Credit Center* court) declined to set a number of days that would constitute unreasonable delay in every

case, but did hold, absent unusual circumstances, an eight month unjustified delay in the pursuit of any affirmative defense or other right which could serve to terminate the litigation, along with participation, constitutes a waiver as a matter of law.

#### Whitten v. Whitten at page 1098.

Thus, the twenty-one month delay in pursuing the affirmative defense of accord and satisfaction from the time it was first raised, coupled with extensive litigation clearly waived the defense even if it had merit, which clearly it does not.

In the Trial Court's Order denying the Motion for Summary Judgment (on accord and satisfaction) and the Motion for Continuance filed on the eve of trial (that had to be reset because not enough jurors were summonsed), Judge Steckler correctly noted that:

...Glendy Burke Vickery raised the affirmative defense of accord and satisfaction on January 6, 2006. For twenty-one months thereafter the case continued through discovery and one attempt at seating a jury for trial. Glendy Burke Vickery did not bring the affirmative defense of accord and satisfaction for consideration until the filing of the Motion for Summary Judgment filed June 9, 2008, a delay of approximately two and one-half years. The Court finds that pursuant to the case of *Whitten v. Whitten*, 956 So.2d 1093 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007), the affirmative defense has been waived...

R-92.

The Trial Judge correctly applied the law to the facts and found a waiver, a finding which must stand.

c. The Estoppel Defense was not timely raised; was filed without leave of court; and it was waived regardless.

Vick Vickery filed an Answer and Affirmative Defenses on September 20, 2006,

to the initial filing of the Objector; however, that initial Answer, filed nine months after the objection was lodged, did not include the affirmative defense of estoppel. An amended objection was filed with leave of Court and served on December 3, 2007 (see certified copy of the docket, page 7 [Order Granting Motion to Amend dated November 30, 2007; Amended Objection to the Petition to Probate Will filed December 3, 2007]. R-35. Under Rule 3 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, the Objection to Probate is essentially a complaint within the contemplation of Rule 3; indeed, the Proponent treats it as a complaint and denominates his response as an "Answer." However, that Answer, along with its affirmative defenses, was not timely filed.

Pursuant to Rule 15(a) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, "...a party shall plead in response to an amended pleading within the time remaining for a response to the original pleading or within ten days after service of the amended pleading, whichever period may be longer, unless the Court otherwise orders." Thus, the Answer and Affirmative Defenses to the Amended Objection were due on or before December 13, 2007.

Almost ten months passed before Vick Vickery tried to file his Answer and Affirmative Defenses, to include the estoppel defense. On October 8, 2008, with the matter already set for trial in December, Vick Vickery filed a Motion for Authority to Amend his Answer and Affirmative Defenses. R-94. On November 6, 2008, George Vickery filed a lengthy opposition of the Objector to the Proponent's Motion to Amend Answer and Affirmative Defenses, which included briefing of the point. ARE-8, R-130. The Objection had actually been served the preceding day on November 5, 2008, and was faxed to counsel for the Proponent. After having received the Objection on

November 5<sup>th</sup>, Vick's lawyer hastily filed, without an order of the Court giving him leave to do so, an out-of-time Answer and Affirmative Defenses to the Amended Objection.

ARE-7, R-97. At the same time, he put together his Memorandum Brief in Support of his Motion for Summary Judgment on the estoppel defense, and filed that as well.

The Proponent ignored the requirements of Rule 15(a), which required him to file his response to the amended pleading within ten days after service on him, making it due in mid-December 2007, over ten months before he filed it. A Motion to Strike the Amended Answer and Affirmative Defense was filed on November 26, 2008. ARE-9, R-137.

The Trial Court entered it's Order on December 1, 2008, denying the Motion for Summary Judgment and a concurrently filed Motion for Continuance based upon estoppel. ARE-2, R-153. The Court did not rule on the Objection or the Motion to Strike, going instead straight to the waiver issue. The Court held:

...Glendy Burke Vickery did not raise the affirmative defense of estoppel until, by his own admission, November 6, 2008, a delay of almost three years from the beginning of this action. During the entire time this case has been pending there has been extensive discovery and one attempt at seating a jury for trial. Glendy Burke Vickery did not bring the affirmative defense of estoppel for consideration until the filing of the most recent Motion for Summary Judgment filed November 6, 2008. The Court finds that, pursuant to the case of *Whitten v. Whitten*, (citation omitted) the affirmative defense of estoppel has been waived.

R-153-54.

The Court also denied the Motion for Continuance at the same time. R-154.

Thus, it is clear that Vick Vickery, through counsel, ignored his duty to raise the estoppel defense in a timely manner, in that the particulars that he relied upon in the

defense were well known even before the estate was opened. There was no new information developed, and no reason not to have raised it at the outset had he thought it were valid. He simply didn't do it. The Court's application of the rule on waiver after unreasonable delay plus participation in litigation was sound, and should be sustained.

Applying the law as set out above in *Whitten* and *Miss. Credit Center, Inc.*, the failure to raise the affirmative defense of estoppel in September 2006, coupled with several years of litigation, is clearly a waiver; moreover, the failure to raise the affirmative defense of estoppel after the amended objection was filed in December 2007 further constitutes a waiver; and even if the Proponent had raised the affirmative defense of estoppel within ten days of the December 2007 filing of the amended objection as required by Rule 12, waiting instead for over ten months to try to assert it, falls outside the eight month bright line period specifically set out in *Miss. Credit Center, Inc.*, particularly given the intense litigation participation. Indeed, the estoppel, as found by the Chancellor, should have been raised three years earlier in the first answer, assuming *arguendo* that it might have some merit.

It could not be more clear that the estoppel defense was waived as a matter of law.

3. Even if not procedurally barred, the defense of accord and satisfaction does not apply to a will contest.

In his Order denying the summary judgment on accord and satisfaction, R-92, Judge Steckler found that even absent a waiver, accord and satisfaction does not lie as an affirmative defense to a will contest. Specifically, he said:

...The Court further finds that accord and satisfaction is an inappropriate affirmative defense in this will contest. Accord

and satisfaction is a legal concept having to do with the satisfaction of a debt between an obligor and an obligee. A will contest examines the capacity and intent of the testator as well as an examination of the instrument purporting to express the interest of the testator. ...

Order of the Court, ARE-3, R-92

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